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TORRUELLA, Circuit Judge. On Decenber 8, 1999, def endant -

appel | ant Oscar Frigerio-Mgiano stood trial for one count of
conspiracy to | aunder noney inviolationof 18 U S.C. § 1956(a)(1).
After the governnent restedits case, Frigeriotwcefiledanotionfor
a j udgnent of acquittal. Althoughthe court agreedthat the evidence
agai nst Frigeriowas "very thin," both noti ons were deni ed and t he case
was sent toajury. On Decenber 13, 1999, the jury returned a verdi ct
agai nst Frigerio. Frigeriofiled another notion to set aside the
verdi ct based on i nsuffi ci ency of evidence, whi ch was agai n deni ed. W
concl ude that there was i nsufficient evidence to convict Frigerio and
reverse the decision of the district court.
BACKGROUND

On Sept enber 7, 1999, a federal grand jury for the District
of Puerto R co returned a one-count indi ctment chargi ng Frigerio, Jaine
Raf ael Mufioz and Neida Otiz Acostawith conspiringto |l aunder noney in
violationof 18 U. S.C. 8§ 1956(a)(1). The government joinedthetrial
of Frigerioand Neida Ortiz Acosta, and a jury was i npanel ed and sworn
for these def endants on Decenber 8, 1999. On that sane day, Frigerio
filed anotionfor severance under Federal Rul e of Crim nal Procedure
14, al |l egi ng prejudicial joinder of defendants. The court deni edthe
notion and the trial continued.

The government established at trial that Frigerio began

wor ki ng at "Phone Hone, " a noney rem ttance busi ness, around t he end of
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Cct ober 1998. He was hired to assenbl e kit chen door hi nges and cl ean
the offi ce. The governnment evi dence showed that in addition to sending
| egiti mat e noney fromwor kers enpl oyed on crui se ships to their hones
inforeigncountries, Phone Hone channel ed over $26 nmi |l i on of drug
noney out of Puerto Rico. Frigerio worked at Phone Hone until the
busi ness was shut down by governnment agents on Decenber 9, 1998.
At trial, the governnent presented six witnesses. IRS
Speci al Agent Donal d Senmesky testified in general terns about the
structure of noney | aunderi ng operati ons. José Mercado Febles, a
convicted drug trafficker famliar wth Phone Honme, testifiedthat a
Col onmbi an nati onal known as "Fabi 0" sold heroinin Puerto Rico and
br ought t he proceeds t o Phone Hone. Jesus | van Saenz Bl anco, anot her
convicteddrugtrafficker, testifiedthat he had, on vari ous occasi ons,
carried $10,000 to $170,000 i n smal | denomi nati ons t o Phone Hone f or
t he purpose of transmtting the noney to Col onbi a. Saenz Bl anco st at ed
t hat hi s noney was count ed upon arrival, and that he provided the
wor kers at Phone Hone with the fictitious nanes and phone nunbers of
the reci pients in Col onbia. Special Agent Gene Joseph Driggers, an
agent with the U.S. Custons Service and a conputer investigation
specialist, identifiedthe files of noney transactions storedinthe
Phone Honme conputer. Finally, governnment wi tness Nel son Laracuente,
assi stant manager of the O d San Juan branch of Banco Popul ar,

testifiedtothe |l arge anounts of cash deposited in Phone Hone's bank
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accounts. None of these witnesses testifiedto knowi ng or neeting
Frigerio, and the governnment stipul ated that Frigerio' s name was not
found in Phone Honme's conputer database.

The only governnent witness toidentify Frigeriowas Luis
Ri vera Valentin.! Ri vera wor ked at Phone Hone fromAugust 1997 unti |
it was cl osed in Decenber 1998. He testifiedthat though at first he
sinply ranerrands and "didlittle things," he becane i nvol ved i n noney
transactions in January 1998. Rivera explainedthat thelegitimte
part of Phone Hone, nostly i nvol vi ng noney rem ttance fromworkers on
crui se ships, was conducted in the front area of the office. This
noney was deposited in an account at First Federal Bank. He further
testifiedthat "flashy" and "suspi ci ous people . . . drug dealers,"”
woul d bring inlarge anounts of cash -- from$10, 000 up t o $300, 000 - -
i n book bags, shoe boxes or conputer boxes. Rivera understood froma
Mar ch 1998 conversation with Neida Ortiz Acosta that the noney was from
t he sal e of drugs. He stated that these i ndi vidual s were shown to the
back of the of fice, where t he noney was count ed and a recei pt i ssued,
"stating in code formthe anmount": for exanple, $45, 000 woul d be
docunent ed as $45. The noney was deposited i n an account at Banco

Popul ar.

! Riverawas actually thethird w tness presented by the gover nnent,
but since hisistheonlytestinony relevant tothis appeal, we explore
it separately.
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According to Rivera, Frigerio acconpani ed hi mat night to
deposit cash at Banco Popular. He also testified that Frigerio
assistedinthe process of counting noney. To this end, the gover nnment
present ed t wo vi deot apes fromcaneras t hat federal investigators had
i nstall ed and hi dden in the back roomof Phone Hone. The first of
t hese tapes was taken on Novenber 23, 1998. Inthis video. Rivera
identifiedFrigerio counting noney and hi nmself entering the room
RiveraalsoidentifiedFrigerioasthe person counting noney i n anot her
vi deot ape t aken on Novenber 27, 1998, al ongsi de a man named " Pocho, "
who woul d bring inlarge anmounts of currency. In addition, he stated
that "every onceinawhile" Frigerio participatedintheissuance of
falsereceipts. Finally, Riveratestifiedthat Frigerio was present
when Phone Honme was scanned for surveillance devices.

After the governnent restedits case, Frigerionovedfor a
j udgnment of acquittal pursuant to Federal Rul e of Cri m nal Procedure
29(a). Al though the court acknow edged that t he case agai nst Frigerio
was "very thin," it denied the notion, concluding fromRivera's
testi mony regardi ng the coded receipts that "there [was] at | east
sonething therethat thejury couldusetoinpute know edgeto him"
The onl y def ense wi t ness was Neida Ortiz Acosta, to whomt he gover nnent
presented arebuttal w tness and concl uded t he evi dence. After the
jury left todeliberate, Frigeriorenewed his notionfor ajudgnent of

acquittal, which was again denied.
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On Decenber 13, 1999, the jury returned a verdi ct agai nst
Frigerio as to the only count filed agai nst him On Decenber 15,
Frigeriofiledathirdnotionunder Rul e 29, this tinme askingthe court
to set aside the verdict because of insufficiency of evidence. Fed. R
Crim P. 29(c). The court deniedthe notion, and, granti ng a downwar d
departure, sentenced Frigerio to a period of twenty-seven nonths
i ncarceration and two years of supervised rel ease. This tinely appeal
fol | owed.

DI SCUSSI ON

| n assessing the sufficiency of the evidenceinacrimnal
case, we ask "whet her the evidence, viewed inthelight nost favorabl e
tothe prosecution, would permit arational jury tofind each essenti al

el enent of the crinme charged beyond a reasonabl e doubt." United States

v. Zanghi, 189 F.3d 71, 79 (1st Cir. 1999) (quotingUnited States v.

Guerrero, 114 F. 3d 332, 339 (1st Cir. 1997)) (i nternal quotations
om tted). The evidence presented by the governnent need not
"preclude[] every reasonabl e hypot hesi s inconsistent withguilt in

order tosustainaconviction." United States v. Hernandez, 218 F. 3d

58, 64 (1st Cir. 2000) (quotingUnited States v. Loder, 23 F. 3d 586,
589 (1st Cir. 1994)). However, the jury's verdict nust be onethat is
"supported by a plausible rendition of the record.” 1d. (quoting

United States v. Ortiz, 966 F.2d 707, 711 (1st Cir. 1992)). Wereview

a district court's Rule 29 determ nation de novo. 1 d.
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Frigeri o concedes that he engaged i n "fi nanci al transacti ons"
as definedin 18 U S.C. 8 1956(c)(4), but contends t hat t he gover nnent
failed to nmeet its burden of proving the know edge el enents of the
crime charged.? The know edge requirenment under 18 U.S.C. 8§
1956(a) (1) (B)(i) is twofold: the governnment nust denonstrate (i) that
t he def endant knewt hat the funds i nvol ved in the financial transaction
wer e t he proceeds of sone unl awful activity; and (ii) that he knewt he
transactionitself was "desi gnedinwhole or inpart toconceal the
nature, | ocation, source, ownership, or control of the proceeds of such
unl awful activity."” 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i). W nowturntothe
government's case.

Vi ewi ng the evidence inthe |light nost favorable to the
government, the jury coul d have found the foll owi ng. Duringthe period
that Frigerio worked at Phone Hone, he wi tnessed | arge anounts of
smal | - denom nati on cash, rangi ng from$10, 000 t o $300, 000, brought in
bags and boxes by "fl ashy” and "suspi ci ous” i ndividuals. These were
distinct fromthe small er anounts of cash -- ranging from$100 to
$5, 000 -- brought in by seanen. Frigerio acconpani ed Rivera on a
regul ar basi s to Banco Popul ar, where t he noney was deposi ted. These
deposits total ed $1,959,068 inthe tine that Frigerio worked at Phone

Home; since the cash consisted mainly of small bills, Frigerio

2 Frigerio also appeals, inthe alternative, the district court's
deni al of his severance notion. Qur conclusion concerning the
suf ficiency of the evidence makes it unnecessary to address this issue.
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regul arly carried a consi derabl e and noti ceabl e bul k of noney on hi s
trips to the bank. Frigerio also witnessed the separation of
operations inthe front and back of Phone Home, nanely, that | arger
amount s of cash were counted by machines in the rear while smaller
anounts brought in by seanmen were accepted at the front counter.
Frigerio at | east tw ce counted noney hinself inthe rear, and on one
occasion did so in the presence of a known drug deal er (although
per haps not known to Frigerio). Finally, Frigerio issued false
recei pts, which "coded" the anount of noney received so that it
appearedto belessthanit actually was. Based on these findings, a
jury couldinfer that Frigerio knewthere were unusual ly | arge suns of
noney, brought into Phone Home on a regular basis, wthout any
identifiablesource. Inshort, ajury couldreasonably concl ude that
Frigerio knew he was handling noney derived froman illicit activity.
However, this, standing alone, isinsufficient. As we have
previously indicated, the governnent nust also prove beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that Frigerio knewthat the transactions in which he
partici pated were part of a noney | aunderi ng schene. Though oner ous,
t he doubl e-i ntent requi renment serves an i nportant function by shi el di ng
i nnocent i ndi vi dual s who engage i n ot herwi se | egal financial activity.
The governnment's burdenis conpounded in the context of this case,
where activities such as counti ng noney, maki ng deposits, and i ssui ng

recei pts forned aroutine part of thelegitimte side of the business.
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Nevert hel ess, for the verdict to stand, the governnment nmust provethis
el ement of know edge for at |east one of its proffered transactions.
We first address the nightly deposits at Banco Popul ar. The
gover nment argues t hat si nce Phone Hone had t wo bank accounts, "[i]t
could beinferredthat Frigerioknewone was to deposit noni es obt ai ned
t hrough | egal nmeans and t he ot her [ Banco Popul ar] to deposit noney
acquired fromillegal ventures." This conclusion sinply |acks
evidentiary support. It may be true, and indeed the gover nment
est abl i shed, that Phone Home nai nt ai ned separ at e bank accounts for its
legitimate and il | egal deposits. However, there is no nexus between
t he existence of these accounts and Frigerio's know edge. The
gover nnent presented no evi dence, for exanpl e, that Frigerio handl ed or
saw any bank account statenents, that he was fam |liar with the account
nunmbers, or even that he made any of the deposits hinself.2 It is also
conceded by t he governnent that Frigerio didnot have access tothe
conmputer files whichtrackedthe noney | aundering details of the two
accounts. Thus, noreasonabl e juror couldinfer that, by acconpanyi ng
Ri vera to t he bank and wi t nessi ng t he deposits, Frigerioknewthat the
pur pose of the deposits was to conceal the source and ownershi p of the

noney.

S Infact, Riveratestifiedthat Frigeriowent with hi mfor security
reasons; "[s]ojust incase there[ was] an assault or anything, there
woul d be a witness."
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W next consi der the vi deos showi ng Fri geri o counti ng noney
in the back area of Phone Honme. The governnent concedes that,
regardl ess of its source, all of the noney entering Phone Honme was
counted. The evidence does show that noney fromlegiti mate and
illegitimte sources variedin anmount and were counted i n di stinct
areas of the officeandindifferent ways: we have not ed al ready t hat
ajury coul d conclude fromthis evidence that Frigerioknewthat the
noney he was counting came fromill egal sources. Even so, one cannot
further conclude that Frigerio knewhe was participatinginan attenpt
to conceal theillicit nature of the noney. That is, in a business
t hat provi ded t he very servi ce of counting noney, there is nothing
about t he act of machi ne counting noney that isinherently connectedto
noney | aundering activity. Consequently, thistransactionalsofails
to prove the requisite know edge el enent.

The strongest pi ece of evidence of fered by t he gover nnent
regardi ng Frigerio' s know edge of the noney | aunderi ng operationis his
i ssuance of "coded receipts.” Riveratestifiedthat thesereceipts
represented anounts significantly snal | er than those actual |y recei ved.
I naddition, Riverastatedthat the receipts indicated where the noney
was goi ng, whi ch coul d have reveal ed to Frigerio that | arge anounts of
cash were destined for Col onbia. For the governnent to prevail, it
nmust be reasonabl e toinfer, based onthis evidence, that Frigeriowas

aware of the attenpts to conceal drug-rel ated noney.
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We believe that such an inference is too attenuated to
sustainthe verdict. Evenif Frigerioissuedcodedreceipts, there

nmust be sonet hi ng about the receipt itself that would permt the

i nference that he knewt he nmeani ng and pur pose of the code. However,
t he gover nnent di d not present the actual recei pts thensel ves. | nstead,
the record contains only R vera's descriptionof their contents.* This
descri ption, noreover, is wholly w thout context: we do not know when
Frigerio issued these receipts, to whom or even whether they did
i ndeed i ndi cat e suspi ci ous destinations. Frigeriodidnot participate
inthis processregularly, but "every onceinawhile," inthe course
of perform ng various ot her, non-financial duties at Phone Hone.
Finally, it is aconceded fact that Frigeri o was not engaged inthe
process of entering these transactions under fictitious nanesinthe
conmputer. Based on the evidence presented at trial, we do not believe
that ajury couldinfer Frigerio' s know edge of the noney | aunderi ng
operation beyond a reasonabl e doubt.

The governnent contends, as an alternative argunment, that to

the extent Frigerio |acked know edge of the noney |aundering

4 Normally, to provethe contents of awiting, theoriginal witing
isrequiredinpreference totestinony about its content. Fed. R
Evi d. 1002. However, since no objection was made on t hese grounds at
trial and the i ssue is not rai sed on appeal, we do not address the
admssibility of thistestinony. See, e.g., United States v. MMhon,
938 F. 2d 1501, 1509 n. 4 (1st Cr. 1991) (noting that failure to object
for best evidence bel owl owers t he standard of revi ewwhenissueis
rai sed on appeal).
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conspiracy, hewas "willfully blind* totheillegal activities around
hi m W have i ndeed stated that where there are prom nent "red fl ags”
that signal crimnal activity is afoot, a jury may infer that a
def endant deli berately ignored facts whi ch woul d have ot herw se been

obvi ous to a reasonabl e person. United States v. Gabriele, 63 F. 3d 61,

66 (1st Cir. 1995). However, no such "red fl ags" were present here.
Ri vera's testinony i ndi cated t hat even he di d not becone wary of Phone
Home' s busi ness until he had worked there for over seven nonths. H's
know edge of the noney | aunderi ng operati on, noreover, was gai ned
t hr ough wor ki ng with the conputer. By contrast, Frigeri o worked at
Phone Home for | ess than seven weeks and di d not use t he conputer.
The activity occurring in Phone Hone was t herefore not a sufficient
"red flag" to permit an inference of willful blindness to the
conspiracy.

Li kewi se, Frigerio' s presence during a scan for surveill ance
devicesis not a"redflag" inthe context of this case. First, even
| egi ti mat e busi nesses -- particularly those dealingwth financi al
transactions -- m ght use surveillance devices as avalid security
measure. Evenif we were to accept that the use of this equi pnent was
suspi ci ous, however, we note that thereis no evidence that Frigerio
was present on nore t han one occasi on when t hi s scanni ng occurred. As
aresult, we do not believethat the scanrosetothelevel of a"red

flag" signaling noney |aundering activity.
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I n reachi ng our concl usi on, we acknow edge that thisis a
cl ose case. We agree with the district court, however, that the
governnent's evidenceis, evenat its best, "very thin" -- and can be
construed just as persuasively infavor of Frigerio. Insuch a case,
t he def endant recei ves the benefit of the doubt: "[ W here an equal or
near equal theory of guilt and atheory of i nnocence i s supported by
t he evidence viewed in the |light nost favorable to the verdict, 'a

reasonabl e jury nust entertain areasonable doubt."™ United States v.

Anduj ar, 49 F.3d 16, 20 (1st Cir. 1995) (citing United States v.

Sanchez, 961 F. 2d 1169, 1173 (5th Cir. 1992)). W concl ude that the
jury's verdict is unsupported by the evidence.

Rever sed.
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